A ANNUAL REVIEWS

Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering Three-Dimensional Single-Molecule Localization Microscopy in Whole-Cell and Tissue Specimens

Sheng Liu,¹ Hyun Huh,² Sang-Hyuk Lee,^{2,3} and Fang Huang^{1,4,5}

¹Weldon School of Biomedical Engineering, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana 47907, USA; email: fanghuang@purdue.edu

²Institute for Quantitative Biomedicine, Rutgers University, Piscataway, New Jersey 08854, USA

³Department of Physics and Astronomy, Rutgers University, Piscataway, New Jersey 08854, USA; email: shlee@physics.rutgers.edu

⁴Purdue Institute for Integrative Neuroscience, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana 47907, USA

⁵Purdue Institute of Inflammation, Immunology, and Infectious Disease, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana 47907, USA

Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2020. 22:155-84

First published as a Review in Advance on April 3, 2020

The Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering is online at bioeng.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-bioeng-060418-052203

Copyright © 2020 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

ANNUAL CONNECT

- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Keywords

super-resolution microscopy, fluorescence microscopy, tissue imaging, adaptive optics, light-sheet microscopy, Cramér-Rao lower bound, CRLB

Abstract

Super-resolution microscopy techniques are versatile and powerful tools for visualizing organelle structures, interactions, and protein functions in biomedical research. However, whole-cell and tissue specimens challenge the achievable resolution and depth of nanoscopy methods. We focus on three-dimensional single-molecule localization microscopy and review some of the major roadblocks and developing solutions to resolving thick volumes of cells and tissues at the nanoscale in three dimensions. These challenges include background fluorescence, system- and sample-induced aberrations, and information carried by photons, as well as drift correction, volume reconstruction, and photobleaching mitigation. We also highlight examples of innovations that have demonstrated significant breakthroughs in addressing the abovementioned challenges together with their core concepts as well as their trade-offs.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	156
BACKGROUND FLUORESCENCE	157
Sources and Types of Fluorescence Background	157
Localization Bias and Precision in the Presence of Background Fluorescence	159
Methods of Reducing Background Fluorescence	160
ABERRATIONS IN SINGLE-MOLECULE LOCALIZATION	
MICROSCOPY	165
System- and Sample-Induced Aberrations	165
3-D Single-Molecule Imaging in the Presence of Aberrations	168
Single-Molecule Localization in Aberrated Point Spread Functions	169
Measuring and Correcting Aberrations Using Adaptive Optics	170
INFORMATION CONTENT IN 3-D POINT SPREAD FUNCTIONS	171
Information Carried Per Photon	171
Increasing Fisher Information Through Excitation	172
SAMPLE DRIFT, VOLUME ALIGNMENT, AND PHOTOBLEACHING	173
Drift Correction	173
Multiple Optical Section Imaging and Alignment	174
Photobleaching Mitigation	175
CONCLUSIONS	178

INTRODUCTION

Far-field fluorescence microscopy is a powerful tool in biological and biomedical research for studying organelle structures, interactions, and protein functions due to its compatibility with live cells and its molecular specificity (1). A major hurdle during the past 100 years has been the limited resolution of far-field fluorescence microscopy (2). Modern super-resolution microscopy or nanoscopy techniques, such as structured illumination microscopy (SIM), stimulated emission depletion microscopy, and single-molecule localization microscopy (SMLM), have made it possible to overcome this fundamental barrier by improving the resolution of fluorescence microscopy (i.e., 250 to 700 nm) by a factor of ten (2).

In particular, SMLM (3–7) uses a stochastic approach to allow a small subset of isolated fluorescent molecules to be switched on at a particular moment while the majority remain in a nonfluorescent, or dark, off state. The fluorescent signal emitted by these single fluorescent probes are captured by a camera, forming individual emission patterns whose centers can then be pinpointed with high precision (8). An SMLM image is reconstructed by localizing thousands to millions of such single-molecule emission events. This imaging strategy was initially applied to twodimensional (2-D) imaging and later extended to three dimensions (9–13). Three-dimensional (3-D) SMLM images routinely achieve 20–40 nm resolution in the focal plane (i.e., lateral, x-y) and 50 to 80 nm in the axial direction.

The key to 3-D SMLM can be summarized as the encoding and decoding of the 3-D molecular position in the form of a single-molecule emission pattern, known as a point spread function (PSF). Hardware modifications made to the detection path of the imaging system [e.g., by using a cylindrical lens (10), phase mask (11), or multifocal planes (9)] encode the axial position of single molecules in the form of axially varying, nondegenerate 3-D emission patterns (i.e., 3-D

PSFs). During the decoding process, the detected emission patterns originating from individual fluorescent molecules in a biological specimen are used to infer their molecular positions in three dimensions based on previously calibrated feature maps or a relevant PSF model (8). While 3-D SMLM can be routinely carried out for thin specimens and cellular structures that lie flat on the coverslip surface, whole-cell and tissue specimens remain challenging for single-molecule super-resolution imaging, thus limiting its achievable resolution and depth.

Here, we review some of the major challenges to 3-D SMLM of thick specimens. We begin by discussing the background fluorescence that is often encountered in whole-cell and tissue imaging. We then discuss the effects of system- and sample-induced aberrations on single-molecule localization and potential strategies to address these issues, both computational and instrumental. Further, we compare strategies to encode 2-D and 3-D molecular positions and their information content in terms of achievable localization precision in both the lateral and axial dimensions. We also discuss drift correction methods, volumetric reconstruction approaches, and photobleaching mitigation strategies, which are critical to achieving high-resolution, large 3-D volumes in whole cells and tissues.

BACKGROUND FLUORESCENCE

Tissue-slice and cell specimens are packed with intra- or extracellular constituents, or both, such as water, proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids. During single-molecule super-resolution imaging, excitation laser intensity ranges from 1 kW/cm² to 15 kW/cm² (14–16), making autofluorescence (i.e., the spontaneous emission of light by these constituents upon excitation) a major contributor to the fluorescence background. On the one hand, the average background level determines the overall feasibility of single-molecule detection and localization precision (17). On the other hand, pixel-to-pixel variation introduces localization biases that could be difficult to detect or eliminate (17). In this section, we discuss major sources of fluorescence background in SMLM, their influences on single-molecule detection and localization, and the methods used to mitigate these effects.

Sources and Types of Fluorescence Background

When imaging through a whole cell, a noticeable autofluorescence in the wavelength range between 500 and 600 nm (18) comes from the cell nucleus where DNA molecules are tightly packed within a volume, typically $5 \times 5 \times 5 \ \mu m^3$. This is generally problematic, especially when the stained cellular targets are located next to the nucleus (e.g., Golgi-associated proteins) (19). However, the intrinsic absorption and emission from the polynucleotides have been further exploited for super-resolution imaging to resolve chromosomes in a label-free manner (**Figure 1***a*,*b*) (18).

Proteins provide another major source of autofluorescence in both cells and tissues. The autofluorescence from cellular organelles is predominant at the short wavelength range, from 400 to 550 nm (20), making blue-, green-, and yellow-emitting organic dyes or fluorescent proteins less favorable for cell imaging than red probes. For mammalian tissues, the fluorescent pigment lipofuscin, which accumulates with age in the cytoplasm of cells, has been shown to be a major source of autofluorescence in tissue slices used for confocal microscopy (20).

Another major source of background fluorescence comes from unbound or out-of-focus fluorescent probes. Careful and repeated cycles of washing and incubation usually allow for a reduction in the amount of diffusing fluorescent tags during immunostaining. However, in some cases these unbound probes are required during single-molecule imaging using, for example, DNA-based points accumulation for imaging in nanoscale topography (known as DNA-PAINT) (21, 22) or binding-activated localization microscopy (known as BALM) (23). Therefore, it is preferable to combine these dynamic in situ labeling strategies with confined excitation schemes (24). Additionally, out-of-focus fluorescent probes that are attached to the cellular target generate background fluorescence that increases with the extent of the axial distribution of the stained cellular structure. These probes not only increase the overall level of background fluorescence but also may give rise to spatially varying background patterns on top of the isolated single-molecule emission patterns.



(Caption appears on following page)

Figure 1 (Figure appears on preceding page)

Examples of background fluorescence, its effect on localization precision, and super-resolution microscopy methods based on autofluorescence from polynucleotides. (a) Fluorescence spectra of the polynucleotides PolyA, -G, -C, and -T and an isolated chromosome (CHR) sample. Abbreviation: a.u., arbitrary unit. Panel a adapted from Reference 18 with permission. (b) (Left) Single-molecule photon localization microscopy (PLM) image of DNA with x-shaped chromosomes separated from HeLa cells. (Right) Wide-field fluorescence and DNA-PLM images of the squared region on the left image show additional fine features that are not resolvable in a wide-field image. Panel b adapted from Reference 18 with permission. (c) The lower bounds of localization precision and their deterioration rates at various photon and background levels. Precision lower bounds were calculated from the Cramér-Rao lower bound (CRLB) given a point spread function (PSF) model without aberration (lateral) or with astigmatism aberration (axial; aberration amplitude = 1.5 $\lambda/2\pi$), assuming that detected photoelectrons follow a Poisson distribution. The background (bg) level is the bg photon per pixel. The emitted photon (I) equals the sum of all pixel intensity after bg subtraction. The simulation parameters include the numerical aperture (1.49), emission wavelength (0.69 µm), pixel size (50 nm), and PSF subregion size (64 × 64 pixels). Lateral precision was calculated at an in-focus position (z = 0), and the axial precisions were calculated by averaging across an axial range from -400 nm to 400 nm. (d) (Left) Raw camera frame of a single-molecule data set with the actin cytoskeleton marker LifeAct-mEos3.2. (Middle) Background fluorescence estimated using a temporal median filter. (Right) Foreground shown after background subtraction. The fiducial beads that are visible in the raw frame and background image are no longer apparent in the foreground image, nor is the ridge at the cell boundary (arrow). Panel d adapted from Reference 17 with permission.

Localization Bias and Precision in the Presence of Background Fluorescence

The background photon counts, from either autofluorescence or out-of-focus probes, follow the same Poisson statistics as the photons emitted by a single molecule. Therefore, an increase in background fluorescence will also increase the detected photon fluctuation, both temporally across frames in a single pixel and spatially across neighboring pixels in a single frame. An elevated background level can effectively mask single-molecule emission events with low photon counts by making them indistinguishable from noisy fluctuations, thus effectively reducing the possibility of detecting single molecules in a specimen.

Given an emission pattern detected from a single molecule, a high background fluorescence level reduces the localization precision. When quantified from the theoretical information limit using the Cramér-Rao lower bound (CRLB), the deterioration rate of localization precision per background photon varies with respect to the average background level and the emitter intensity (25, 26). Given an example of a single-molecule emission pattern with 300 emitted photons, the deterioration rate ranges from as low as 0.3 nm/photon to as high as 3 nm/photon in the lateral direction (Figure 1c), varying according to the background level. In general, localization precision degrades faster as the background photon level gets lower and vice versa (Figure 1c). This rate also depends on the emitter intensity: The more photons are emitted from a single emitter, the slower the deterioration of localization precision with background fluorescence (Figure 1c). Notably, under the condition of low-photon single emitters (e.g., 300 total emitted photons and a 3-photon background level), such as typically occurs when imaging fluorescent protein in live-cell super-resolution experiments, an additional single background photon will decrease the achievable lateral resolution by 2 nm. In contrast, in the case of high-photon single emitters (e.g., 3,000 total emitted photons and a 10-photon background level), typically encountered when imaging bright organic dyes or using labeling methods such as DNA-PAINT, an additional single background photon reduces the achievable lateral resolution by just 0.06 nm (Figure 1c).

Inhomogeneous backgrounds, in which background levels vary from pixel to pixel within an isolated single-molecule subregion, can have significant effects on the accuracy of single-molecule localization (i.e., localization bias). The arbitrariness of these background patterns—due to the local cell or tissue context—makes it difficult to incorporate them into regression-based localization algorithms or even into deep neural networks that are not trained with the whole spectrum of such background patterns (27). In the special case that occurs when inhomogeneous backgrounds can be modeled as a 1-D or 2-D gradient distribution, including an analytical expression of the

background profile can restore the optimal accuracy of single-molecule localization. Notably, the use of a temporal median filter, which takes advantage of the spatial and temporal sparsity of single-molecule data sets, has been demonstrated to be an effective method for subtracting inhomogeneous backgrounds (17) (**Figure 1***d*).

Methods of Reducing Background Fluorescence

To reduce background fluorescence, optical sectioning techniques, such as confocal scanning, temporal focusing, and light-sheet illumination, have been combined with SMLM to increase the signal-to-noise ratio of single-molecule detections.

Confocal-based excitation and detection. In comparison with wide-field illumination and detection methods, SMLM employing spinning-disc confocal illumination and detection methods along with DNA-PAINT (28) has been used to reject out-of-focus background photons. However, to effectively reject background fluorescence while minimizing the blocking of fluorescence signal from the in-focus sample plane, confocal approaches require a small pinhole size (usually \sim 1 Airy unit) (29). This pinhole size, which allows only a small portion of the sample to be imaged at each time point, results in slow imaging speed. A line-scanning confocal imaging system has been developed for SMLM to achieve an imaging speed of 33 frames/s (30) (**Figure 2***a*). Furthermore, scanning with a laterally confined, highly inclined and laminated optical sheet (HILO) beam paired with a synchronized rolling-shutter readout of a complementary metal oxide–semiconductor sensor, increases the signal integration time for single-molecule detection when compared with line-scanning and spinning-disc confocal methods, and it also increases the signal-to-background ratio by 2.6 times when compared with wide-field HILO illumination (31) (**Figure 2***c*).

Temporal focusing. Temporal focusing accomplishes axially confined excitation by harnessing the ultrafast pulse width in the time domain (32, 33). In the typical implementation of temporal focusing, the ultrafast pulse beam is scattered by a diffraction grating and is recombined at the sample plane through telescope-based image-relay optics. The diffraction grating angularly separates the constituent wavelengths of the incoming pulse, thus broadening the temporal pulse width in its propagation space except at the sample plane, where all of the wavelengths reconstitute the original pulse. Therefore, two-photon absorption efficiency is optimal only near the sample plane, where the peak pulse intensity is the highest. Although temporal focusing alone can provide 2-D wide-field illumination sheets with $\sim 2 \,\mu m$ depth of focus (34), spatial beam shaping and 1-D fast scanning (e.g., line scanning) can be combined with temporal focusing to offer optical sectioning performance that is almost identical to that of point-scanning two-photon microscopy in the widefield illumination mode (35-39). Temporal focusing has been used for whole-cell super-resolution imaging by axially confining the activation of photoactivatable (PA) fluorescent proteins, such as Dronpa and PA-mCherry (34, 35). One remarkable property of temporal focusing is that it can reliably deliver any spatial pattern of light, even deep into highly scattering turbid media, without much distortion (40, 41). This attribute, combined with the spatial light modulator (SLM)-based beam shaping technique, has been used in neuroscience and optogenetics research for photostimulation inside tissue (42). It is exciting to speculate on the new avenues that combine temporal focusing-based excitation and 3-D SMLM.

Light-sheet illumination. Light-sheet fluorescence microscopy (LSFM) is another powerful technique for reducing background fluorescence and photobleaching in thick biological samples. When imaging living specimens, it also reduces phototoxicity (43–48). However, its application to



Figure 2

Examples of methods developed to reduce background fluorescence. (*a*) Super-resolution images of microtubules at depths of 4 μ m, 7.5 μ m, and 85 μ m made using a single-molecule imaging system based on line-scanning confocal microscopy. Panel *a* adapted from Reference 30 with permission. (*b*) Super-resolution images of six adjacent oblique planes and the *x*–*y* plane projection obtained using epi-illumination selective plane illumination microscopy (or eSPIM) system. Panel *b* adapted from Reference 52 with permission. (*c*) Single-molecule fluorescence in situ hybridization images of eukaryotic translation elongation factor 2 on A549 cells using epi-illumination and highly inclined swept tile (HIST) microscopy. Panel *c* adapted from Reference 31 with permission.

SMLM has been limited due to the low numerical aperture (NA) objectives commonly employed in most LSFM systems, in which the geometrical positioning of two separate detection and illumination objectives must be considered.

Single-molecule imaging with multiobjective light-sheet systems. In one type of multiobjective LSFM configuration, the objectives are positioned in close proximity, either orthogonally or non-orthogonally, with no additional optical element between illumination and detection. For systems

using orthogonal arrangements, such as selective plane illumination microscopy (SPIM) (43), multidirectional SPIM (mSPIM) (49), inverted SPIM (iSPIM) (44), dual-view iSPIM (DiSPIM) (45), individual molecule localization SPIM (IML-SPIM) (46), and lattice light-sheet microscopy (LLSM) (47), the uses of detection NA up to 1.1 were demonstrated. The limitation of these arrangements is that an increase in the detection NA usually comes with a sacrifice in the illumination NA. As was demonstrated with IML-SPIM (46), a detection NA of 1.1 and an illumination NA of 0.3 were used for single-molecule localization microscopy. Similarly, a demonstration of lattice light-sheet microscopy used a detection NA of 1.1 and a custom-designed illumination objective of NA 0.65 for SMLM (24, 47) (Figure 3d). This restriction on the NA value is mainly due to the bulky size of commercial high-NA objectives. Custom-designed objectives, while lessening such constraints, however, are not readily accessible. Three-objective SPIM (TriSPIM) (50), a theoretical study using a design with three orthogonally arranged objectives of NA 0.8, suggested that a 1.1 detection NA can be achieved by taking advantage of structured illumination. In non-orthogonal arrangements, such as that used in π SPIM (51), the use of a detection NA of up to 1.1 has been demonstrated. In π SPIM, two objectives were positioned in an obtuse angle. which alleviated the restriction on the NA and allowed for both the detection and illumination NAs to be >1. π SPIM offers high spatial resolution imaging (with a 1.1 detection NA) as well as excellent optical sectioning capability (with a 1.49 illumination NA). This unique design makes it a promising candidate for 3-D SMLM imaging. We note that currently it restricts the detection objective to a water dipping lens, for which the highest NA, commonly accessible, is 1.1.

Other multiobjective configurations have been developed to circumvent the problem of space constraints, with either the illumination or detection path being redirected by additional optics. One method utilizes remote detection. In epi-illumination SPIM (eSPIM) (52), a water immersion objective (NA, 1.27) was used for both illumination and detection. With an oblique light sheet generated by the water immersion objective, an intermediate image of the illuminated plane was formed by an air objective (NA, 0.9), and then by positioning a water dipping objective (NA, 1.0) such that its focal plane overlapped with the intermediate image plane, the full oblique illumination area at the sample was detected on the camera. Although similar to eSPIM, oblique plane stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (obSTORM) (53) uses a tilted mirror, instead of a third objective, to form a secondary intermediate image plane that coincides with the focal plane of the remote objective through which the final image is formed on the camera. Both methods are able to take advantage of high NA (\geq 1.2) water immersion objectives to assist with single-molecule localization as well as to simplify the sample mounting procedure so that it is the same as that used for a conventional inverted microscope.

Another type of system focuses on modifying the illumination scheme. In one approach, termed reflected light-sheet microscopy (RLSM) (54), a thin light sheet generated from an upright objective was reflected at 90° by a small mirror positioned just above the coverslip, and an inverted objective with a high NA (1.35 or 1.4) was used for detection. This technique has enabled the implementation of oil immersion objectives in LSFM and enhanced its capability to detect ultralow fluorescence signals. However, RLSM introduces a $2-\mu$ m gap above the coverslip that is not accessible to the reflected light sheet. Another approach, named tilted light-sheet microscopy with 3-D PSFs (TILT3D) (55) (**Figure 3***c*), uses a thin light sheet reflected at an oblique angle (10°) to the coverslip rather than being parallel; this removes the illumination gap. However, the light sheet position is coupled with one lateral translation of the sample chamber and, therefore, requires beam readjustments when translating the specimen in the coupled direction. Hu et al. (56) developed an alternative to reflection-based approaches, termed light-sheet Bayesian microscopy (LSBM), in which a light sheet is refracted into a plane parallel to the detection objective focal plane by positioning a prism next to the illumination object. The refracted light sheet delivers

exceptional optical sectioning beyond the limit of the illumination NA. However, the detection NA of this approach remains limited by that of the water dipping objective.

Single-molecule imaging with single-objective light-sheet illumination. Light-sheet generation and fluorescence detection can be accomplished by using a single objective. HILO (57) is a



(Caption appears on following page)

Figure 3 (Figure appears on preceding page)

(a) Lower bounds of lateral and axial localization precision when using different three-dimensional (3-D) single-molecule localization microscopy (SMLM) modalities with a single emitted photon and near zero background (10^{-6}) . Precision values were calculated from Cramér-Rao lower bounds and assume a Poisson distribution for detected photoelectrons. Double-helix (DH) point spread functions (PSFs) were generated from Gaussian-Laguerre modes and efficiency optimized for pupil function. Astigmatism PSFs were generated from the fifth Zernike polynomial (Wyant order) with an amplitude of 1.5 ($\lambda/2\pi$), and biplane PSFs used ideal PSFs (i.e., with no aberration) for each plane, with an optimized plane distance of 305 nm. 4Pi (interferometric) PSFs were generated based on coherent pupil functions, with an astigmatism aberration of 1.5 ($\lambda/2\pi$) that had perfect coherence and zero transmission loss. To avoid computational instabilities, we used a background of 10^{-6} photons per pixel for single-plane PSF models (astigmatism and DH), $10^{-6}/2$ for biplane PSFs, and $10^{-6}/4$ for 4Pi PSFs. For each PSF model, to evaluate the precision achieved by one expected photon count, the sum of all pixel values after background subtraction is one. DH PSFs give the lowest lateral precision with the least increase over z, partially benefiting from the side lobes of the shape-invariant PSFs. 4Pi PSFs give the lowest axial precision, taking advantage of coherent detection of single molecules. Other simulation parameters include the numerical aperture (1.49), emission wavelength $(0.69 \,\mu\text{m})$, pixel size (50 nm), and PSF subregion size (64 × 64 pixels). (b) Lower bounds of 1-D localization precision when using different patterned excitation SMLM methods. A 1-D Gaussian model with a width of one pixel was used for both the emission PSF and the excitation PSF in image-scanning microscopy (ISM). A 1-D sinusoid pattern with a period of 3 pixels (T = 3 pixels) was used for both the structured illumination (SIM) and the minimal emission fluxes (MINFLUX). Here, precision was calculated at one photon in total and zero background. Abbreviation: s.t.d., standard deviation. (c) 3-D SMLM reconstructions of the entire nuclear lamina (lamin B1) of a HeLa cell made using tilted light-sheet microscopy with 3-D PSFs (TILT3D). Scale bar: 5 µm. Panel c adapted from Reference 55 with permission. (d) Volume rendering of two dividing LLC-PK1 cells in prophase (bottom) and metaphase (top) labeled with Hoechst-JF646 and AzepRh to visualize DNA and intracellular membranes, seen using 3-D lattice light-sheet illuminated 3-D SMLM. Panel d adapted from Reference 24 with permission. (e) 3-D super-resolution volumes of synaptonemal complexes in a whole-mouse spermatocyte obtained by 4Pi (interferometric)-based single-molecule detection and localization assisted by adaptive optics. Panel e adapted from Reference 92 with permission.

relatively straightforward technique that uses a single objective, and a detection NA of up to 1.49 has been demonstrated. For effective background-reduction performance, the field of view (FOV) in both dimensions is usually limited to 5 to 10 μ m, and it typically requires a total internal reflection–compatible objective lens (NA \geq 1.45) to achieve reliable performance. However, because index-mismatch aberration occurs between the immersion oil and whole-cell or tissue specimens and rapidly increases with imaging depth, this technique is typically limited to thin specimens.

Galland et al. (58) and Meddens et al. (59) proposed, respectively, single-objective SPIM (soSPIM) and single-objective light-sheet microscopy (SO-LSM), and in both cases, a thin light sheet from the objective was reflected by a reflective surface inside a specially designed microfluidic channel. These methods can potentially be adapted to any water or oil immersion objective. However, when using a single objective, the axial translation of the light sheet is coupled with the axial scanning of the sample, and this requires additional scanning of the light sheet in order to align the light sheet with the focal plane (58, 59). Another notable drawback of these approaches is that, similar to RLSM, the reflected light sheet will be distorted near the coverslip unless a specially designed chamber (58) raises the sample away from it.

Nondiffracting light-sheet illumination. High-NA objectives, although benefiting light-sheet confinement as well as single-molecule detection and localization, are susceptible to sample-induced aberrations that often arise from light scattering or inhomogeneous refractive indices inside the specimen. Low-NA light-sheet illumination is less prone to these aberrations (48) because of its ability to generate nondiverging sheet illumination over a large distance. Therefore, explorations of nondiffracting beams (e.g., an Airy beam or Bessel beam) used along with high-NA detection have been a new emphasis in LSFM techniques. The nondiffracting beam (60, 61) is formed by a wave field whose transverse intensity profile remains unchanged in free-space propagation, and thus is termed propagation invariant (62). These wave fields feature the remarkable

property of regenerating their intensity profile, even after disturbance by an object or in turbid media, and this property is often referred to as self-healing or self-reconstruction (61). Bessel beams, well-investigated nondiffracting beams, have been shown to possess greater resistance to scattering media and to have a greater penetration depth than Gaussian beams (63–66). However, these nondiffracting profiles come with bright side lobes, which are a corollary of the self-healing property but can greatly deteriorate the optical sectioning performance of a light sheet at the same time. Strategies to balance this trade-off between the extent of a nondiffracting center beam and the side lobe intensities have been developed to make nondiffracting beams a useful tool in LSFM. By combining a Bessel beam with structured illumination or two-photon excitation techniques (67, 68), the side lobes of the Bessel beam can be sufficiently suppressed, and an isotropic resolution can be achieved while maintaining a large FOV (up to $60 \ \mu m$). In the case of an Airy beam, image artifacts introduced by the side lobe can be effectively reduced by deconvolution (69, 70), and a substantially extended FOV (up to $160 \ \mu m$) as well as improved resolution over Bessel-beam and Gaussian-beam illumination have been demonstrated (70).

ABERRATIONS IN SINGLE-MOLECULE LOCALIZATION MICROSCOPY

Photons emitted from single molecules travel through the specimen and microscope before being detected by the camera. Due to the inhomogeneous refractive indices of cellular and extracellular structures, their wavefronts, passing through different parts of the cell and through tissue structures, travel at different speeds and, therefore, are curved or distorted according to the path through the specimen. Optical system imperfections may also introduce significant wavefront distortions (71). Left unattended, these distortions lower the information of molecular position carried per photon. The discrepancy between the actual distorted or blurred PSF and the assumed or measured PSF model further causes localization bias. Taken together, aberrations—induced by either the optical instrument or the specimen—degrade the achievable resolution and introduce localization artifacts in single-molecule imaging, and these effects are especially significant in the axial direction. In this section, we discuss the major types of aberrations encountered in SMLM, examine their influences on the precision and accuracy of single-molecule localization, and introduce the methods used to optically correct or numerically mitigate aberrations during single-molecule imaging.

System- and Sample-Induced Aberrations

Aberrations in microscopy systems can mainly be categorized into two types: One is systematic aberrations, which are caused by the instrument itself, and the other is the sample-induced aberrations caused by the inhomogeneous refractive indices of extra- and intracellular constituents in cells and tissues. Systematic aberrations vary between microscopes. They are frequently observed in both custom-built and commercial single-molecule imaging systems. Here, we discuss several major aberration types caused by either misalignment or defects of optical components in a microscope.

Spherical aberration. Spherical aberration is the only primary monochromatic aberration that exists if the object is on the optical axis (72), and it leads to an asymmetry of PSFs along the optical axis (**Figure 4***a*). A common source of spherical aberration is a camera positioned incorrectly along the optical axis (73). A commercial objective is optimized at a designated focal plane, and, therefore, the camera must be positioned such that the sample plane is coincident with the

designed focal plane in order to minimize spherical aberration. This phenomenon is especially prevalent on remote-focusing microscope systems (52, 53, 74), for which careful alignment is required to ensure the coincidence of the two focal planes of the two objectives.

Coma. Coma is a type of off-axis aberration, and it results in radial asymmetry of PSFs in the lateral dimension (75) (**Figure 4***a*). Because it is an off-axis aberration, it usually occurs at the edge of the FOV. However, if the system is misaligned, it may also be observed in the middle of the FOV. Coma is commonly observed in microscopy systems using a water (76) or a silicon oil objective lens. Because of the index mismatch between the cover glass and the immersion medium,



(Caption appears on following page)

Figure 4 (Figure appears on preceding page)

(a) Examples of three-dimensional (3-D) point spread functions (PSFs) based on a high-numerical aperture (NA) imaging system, showing various aberrations, including horizontal astigmatism (H. astigmatism), horizontal coma (H. coma), spherical, and index mismatch aberration (IMM). Ideal PSFs were also generated for comparison. The simulation parameters include the NA (1.49), emission wavelength (0.69 μ m), pixel size (50 nm), and PSF subregion size (64 \times 64 pixels). For astigmatism, coma, and spherical aberration, the amplitudes of the corresponding Zernike polynomials (fifth, seventh, and ninth; Wyant order) are, respectively, 1.5, 1.5, and -1.5 (units, $\lambda/2\pi$). For IMM, the imaging depth (stage position) was set to 10 μ m, and the refractive indices of the immersion and the sample media are, respectively, 1.52 and 1.33. (b) Lower bounds of lateral and axial localization precision at different imaging depths were calculated using biplane detection when considering refractive IMM. The parameters used in the simulation include the NA (1.4), the refractive index of the objective immersion medium (1.52), the refractive index of the sample immersion medium (1.33), wavelength (0.7 µm), number of emitted photons per single molecule (1,000), and background fluorescence per pixel (10). The precision values at image depths from 2 to 80 µm are shown. At each depth, 101 PSFs at z positions uniformly distributed from -600 nm to 600 nm relative to the apparent focal position were simulated. The average precision in the lateral and axial directions are reported at each depth. (c) 3-D single-molecule localization microscopy (SMLM) images of immune-labeled α -tubulin in COS-7 cells, with (*left*) the adaptive optics (AO) set to correct for instrumental aberrations only and (right) the AO set to correct for instrumental- and specimen-induced aberrations. Scale bars: 1 µm. Panel c adapted from Reference 107 with permission. (d) Correction of aberration induced by Caenorhabditis elegans using a sensorless AO driven by a genetic algorithm. Scale bars: 5 µm. Panel d adapted from Reference 108 with permission. (e) 3-D SMLM image of an amyloid-β plaque in a 30-μm brain slice from a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Image made using adaptive PSF shaping and sensorless AO driven by the Nelder-Mead simplex algorithm. Scale bar: 5 µm. Panel e adapted from Reference 80 with permission.

even a slight tilt of the cover glass (i.e., away from the angle orthogonal to the optical axis) can cause significant coma. The tilting and decentering of optical lenses can also cause coma.

Astigmatism. Astigmatism is another type of off-axis aberration; in this case, PSFs appear to be elongated in different directions above and below the focal plane (75) (**Figure 4***a*). Similar to coma, astigmatism is more noticeable near the edge of the FOV, particularly in systems consisting only of radial symmetrical lenses. One common reason for the occurrence of astigmatism in the middle of the FOV is that an optical element is deformed into a cylindrical curvature. This usually appears in multichannel systems, in which a slight bending of the beam splitter or dichroic mirror can cause astigmatism in the reflection channel. Therefore, a thick beam-splitting element is preferred in these systems. Additionally, the tilting and decentering of optical lenses can also cause astigmatism.

Chromatic aberration. Chromatic aberration is caused by the phenomenon of different wavelengths being focused at different axial or lateral positions. Many commercial objectives and optical lenses are achromatic (72) to ensure minimum chromatic aberration. However, the effect of chromatic aberration can be more significant (77, 78) for microscopy systems that have a dispersion element, such as a prism or a grating, since the spectral dimension is spread over one lateral dimension of the image plane.

Other system-induced aberrations. For microscopy systems equipped with a wavefront control element, such as a deformable mirror (DM) or SLM, misalignment of this component can cause various aberrations (79). Siemons et al. (79) examined the major aberrations caused by misalignment of the SLM in microscopy systems, including field-dependent aberration, which is caused by axial misalignment, and observable lateral shift of the PSFs with a defocus wavefront applied by the SLM, which is caused by lateral misalignment. These aberrations can also occur in systems employing a DM. Since the active area of the DM is usually much smaller than that of the SLM, the lateral misalignment can further cause beam clipping, which is easily observable from the defocused PSFs (80). A clipping edge present in an out-of-focus PSF indicates that partial marginal rays of the emitter are missed by the DM. Similar effects can also be observed when a lens or a mirror is significantly decentered or its size is smaller than the incident beam size.

Sample-induced aberration. One type of sample-induced aberration that has been extensively studied is the aberration caused by refractive index mismatch between the sample medium and the immersion medium of the objective (73, 81–83) (Figure 4*a*). A water immersion objective is less susceptible to the index mismatch aberration since most sample media are aqueous, with a refractive index close to that of water. For high-NA oil immersion objectives, as are commonly employed in single-molecule super-resolution imaging, the index mismatch aberration will worsen rapidly with imaging depth. Although its influence on the shapes of the PSF looks similar to that of spherical aberration, the exact wavefront shape differs from that of spherical aberration. In terms of Zernike polynomials (84), the wavefront of an index mismatch aberration can be expressed by a linear combination of defocus and spherical aberration has much stronger effects on deteriorating the achievable precision in the axial direction than in the lateral direction (Figure 4*b*).

Silicone oil immersion objectives have been recently developed to accommodate the need for thick specimen imaging; the refractive index of silicone oil (\sim 1.4) makes it less susceptible to the index mismatch aberration while it is still possible to maintain a high NA (\sim 1.3), and thus it is suitable for 3-D SMLM of tissue specimens (80). Water dipping objectives, however, require the refractive index of the sample medium to closely match that of water; otherwise its long working distance (1 to 2 mm) may turn even a small refractive index mismatch into a large deviation of optical path difference from the designed condition.

Another type of aberration is induced by the biological specimen itself. These aberrations and their corresponding wavefront distortions are highly specific to the local constituents of cells and tissues, and, therefore, there exist neither generally applicable mathematical models nor quick remedies for such types of aberrations. As a result, the distorted emission patterns of single fluorescent probes cannot be modeled or measured a priori. Such sample-induced aberration is more pronounced when imaging tissue specimens, and it has been extensively reported in two-photon microscopy (85).

3-D Single-Molecule Imaging in the Presence of Aberrations

3-D SMLM relies on encoding and decoding the axial positions of single molecules in the form of their 3-D response functions (i.e., 3-D PSF). Multiple PSF-engineering approaches have been developed to tackle the single-molecule imaging tasks for thick specimens. One of the areas of attention aims to achieve an extended axial localization range. Perhaps one of the first attempts was the invention of double-helix PSF (DH-PSF) (11), engineered from propagation-invariant wave fields (62, 86). The DH-PSF consists of two main lobes that rotate along the propagation direction. With this property, DH-PSFs give a nearly uniform localization precision in an axial range of 2 μ m. Self-bending PSFs (87) take advantage of a nondiffracting Airy beam, extending the axial localization range to 3 µm. Further, Shechtman et al. (88) have proposed a PSF optimization method to determine the PSF shape that yields optimal average localization precision along any given axial range by minimizing the theoretical precision limit obtained from the CRLB. As a result, the saddle-point PSF (88) was generated by optimizing the $3-\mu m$ axial range, whereas the tetrapod PSF (89) was later developed to enable single-particle tracking in an axial range of 6 µm without scanning. We note that saddle-point and tetrapod PSFs require moderate isolation between emitters, making sparsely labeled specimens their preferred applications. However, the lateral dimension of the engineered PSFs tends to increase along with the designed axial range, which may make them more sensitive to aberrations and noise (79).

Another area of emphasis is optimizing the performance of axial resolution by improving the localization precision (and, therefore, the resolution) given a limited emitter intensity and background level. This is beneficial for thick specimen imaging in cases in which the signal-tonoise ratio is relatively low. 3-D imaging modalities, such as biplane (9), astigmatism (10), and phase ramp (90), have been widely adapted in 3-D SMLM systems, which achieve a 10- to 20-fold improvement in resolution when compared with confocal microscopy. By using two opposing objective lenses (i.e., 4Pi detection geometry), the detection efficiency of single molecules can be doubled, which in turn leads to an \sim 1.4-fold improvement in localization precision in all three dimensions (91). Furthermore, when the fluorescence signals from the two objective lenses are combined coherently and, therefore, are allowed to interfere, the resulting PSF features significantly increase the achievable axial resolution (12, 13, 92). The center intensity of the 4Pi (interferometric) PSF is modulated with respect to the axial position of the emitter, with a period of \sim 300 nm. By extracting the phase of the PSFs according to the center intensity, a 10-nm axial resolution can be achieved with 600 photons/objective (93). A recent study switched the emphasis of PSF engineering toward mitigating the influence of optical aberrations on PSF shape. This method, termed self-interference microscopy (SELFI) (94), proposed a new type of PSF that is generated through self-interference by way of a diffraction grating placed close to an intermediate image plane in the detection path. The diffraction grating was able to encode the curvature information of a focusing wavefront into the PSF patterns, with a demonstrated imaging depth of 40 μ m (94).

Multifocus microscopy (78) has been developed to acquire extended imaging depths without scanning. The system simultaneously forms images on 9 to 25 equally spaced planes along the axial direction and instantly captures a 3-D volume of the biological structure within an imaging depth of 4 to 8 μ m (95–97). Therefore, all planes can be imaged at the same time without the delay caused by scanning in the axial direction. However, multifocus microscopy techniques suffer from low photon efficiency: Only 5% of all total photons were received by each plane in a nine-plane configuration; as a consequence, a longer exposure time of 30 to 50 ms is required (95, 97).

Single-Molecule Localization in Aberrated Point Spread Functions

To achieve accurate (low bias) and precise localization of single molecules in the presence of aberrations, there are mainly two approaches: accurate modeling of the PSF and correcting aberrations.

Phase-retrieval methods. During single-molecule localization, one needs to infer the lateral and axial positions of individual fluorescent probes from the shape and location of their detected emission patterns. Therefore, when inferring single-molecule positions in the presence of observable aberrations, the resulting PSF distortions must be incorporated into the PSF model in order to achieve high localization accuracy (i.e., low localization bias).

One way to incorporate such distortion is by using a phase-retrieved PSF (PR-PSF) as described by pupil function. The pupil function describes the electric wave field at the pupil plane in the detection path of an imaging system. When retrieved from a set of experimentally recorded PSFs at different axial positions, the pupil function describes the wavefront distortion as well as the transmission amplitude of the light wave and is related to the PSF in the imaging plane through the Fourier transform. Hanser et al. (98, 99) demonstrated that PR-PSFs retrieved using the Gerchberg–Saxton (GS) algorithm closely match experimental PSFs in microscopy systems with a high-NA objective. This GS-based phase retrieval algorithm was further applied to SMLM to improve localization accuracy in the case of various engineered PSFs (81, 83, 100). To increase the computational speed, an analytical PSF model can be obtained by expanding the retrieved pupil function in terms of Zernike polynomials when the optical aberrations are relatively small (81). However, in the presence of significant wavefront distortions (peak–valley >1 λ), discontinuities arise in the pupil phase due to extensive phase wrapping, which results in inaccurate estimations when using Zernike expanded pupil functions (27). Additionally, GS-based PR algorithms do not take into account the photon statistics of the recorded PSFs; therefore, this leads to inaccurate results when retrieving pupil functions from PSFs with low signal-to-noise ratios. Maximum like-lihood estimator (MLE)-based phase retrieval algorithms (101, 102) were developed to address these difficulties. MLE phase retrieval methods estimate a set of Zernike polynomial amplitudes by maximizing a likelihood function that represents the similarity between the PR-PSFs and the experimental PSFs. By directly estimating the Zernike amplitudes, MLE phase retrieval successfully avoids phase wrapping and has been demonstrated to be applicable to large wavefront distortions. Furthermore, by incorporating photon statistics in the likelihood function, MLE phase retrieval is less susceptible to noise (101).

Interpolation-based methods. An analytical PSF model can also be built through cubic interpolation of a set of recorded PSFs. With the cubic spline method, one can skip the complicated phase retrieval process—which often requires a user's knowledge of the microscopy system—to generate an equally accurate PSF model (103). A recent implementation of the cubic spline method on a graphics processing unit achieved a localization speed of $>10^5$ emitters/s, with precision approaching the theoretical information limit calculated by the CRLB (104). However, the cubic spline method requires a set of recorded PSFs at finely sampled axial positions with intervals of 10 to 50 nm (104), which increases the acquisition time and makes this method more sensitive to sample drift. Additionally, noise in the recorded PSFs can substantially affect the accuracy of the spline PSF model, thus requiring averaging of multiple recorded PSF stacks that are well aligned in both the lateral and axial directions (104).

Measuring and Correcting Aberrations Using Adaptive Optics

By employing the algorithms mentioned above, localization bias can be reduced, given an accurate numerical or analytical model of the PSF distorted by the optical system. However, the information loss introduced by aberrations from the microscopy system or the specimen causes a permanent reduction in localization precision, and this precision loss is not recoverable using computational methods.

For example, a theoretical limit on axial precision increases (i.e., worsens) by fivefold at an imaging depth of 50 μ m for a common configuration of SMLM (**Figure 4***b*). While advanced algorithms can be developed to perform unbiased single-molecule localizations that approach this theoretical precision bound, any further decrease in localization uncertainty requires a physical element that corrects the distorted wavefront of single-molecule emissions prior to its detection on the camera.

To optically correct wavefront distortions, two types of wavefront modifying devices are commonly used: a DM or an SLM. A DM usually consists of a reflective membrane surface, either continuous or segmented, with electrostatic or electromagnetic actuators controlling the curvature of the mirror. Therefore, light reflected from the DM is modified in its optical path length by twice the mirror deformation distance (71). The same optical path length modification occurs in spite of the wavelength and polarization state of the light. SLMs control the incident light wavefront by locally changing the refractive index at a pixel of the liquid crystal-based device. However, the introduced modulation of the refractive index depends on the polarization of the incident light and its propagation direction (105). This characteristic of SLMs makes them less suitable for wavefront control in SMLM in which unpolarized emissions are expected from fluorescent probes. Despite this disadvantage, SLMs usually consist of a large number of pixels and, therefore, can generate significantly more complex wavefront shapes than can DMs. In astronomy and ophthalmology, wavefront distortions are often measured using devices such as Shack–Hartmann wavefront sensors (106). By inserting a microlens array into the pupil plane of an imaging system, the wavefront generated by a bright and stationary point source (also known as a guide star) can be dissected into small pieces that each contain, by approximation, the tip and tilt of the local wavefront. The amount of tip and tilt of each wavefront segment is then translated into lateral shifts on the focal plane by the microlenses and measured by a camera. However, the prerequisite of providing a bright, stationary point source remains the limiting factor in implementing this method for SMLM.

Sensorless adaptive optics (AO), however, do not require a guide star (71). In general, this approach optimizes the induced wavefront shape using an adaptive element, typically a DM or an SLM. It iteratively determines the amplitudes of individual Zernike modes—encoded by the DM or SLM—that maximize a predefined metric, such as image sharpness or peak intensity, quantified from the captured image. For SMLM, both iterative and non-iterative sensorless AO methods have been developed using optimization approaches such as coordinate search (**Figure 4***c*) (107), genetic algorithms (**Figure 4***d*) (108), particle swarm optimization (109), and the Nelder–Mead simplex algorithm (**Figure 4***e*) (80). Although sensorless AO is relatively straightforward to implement, the multiple cycles of DM update and image acquisition that are typically required limit the response time, and, therefore, its application has been focused on correcting static wavefront distortions in fixed-cell and tissue specimens.

An SMLM data set usually contains thousands of emission patterns generated by single fluorescent probes within a typical imaging volume of $30 \times 30 \times 1 \ \mu m^3$. The numerous photons emitted by these point sources are likely to experience a similar wavefront distortion induced by the specimen. In principle, it may be possible to simultaneously estimate both the molecular positions and the common wavefront distortions (e.g., in terms of Zernike amplitude) from raw, blinking SMLM data themselves. However, such regression could be considered intangible due to the high dimensionality of the parameter space and the associated local minimums preventing the regression algorithms from finding the global minimum solution.

In contrast to regression, deep learning extracts information-carrying features from the training data set while ignoring irrelevant features. Single-molecule deep neural networks (smNets) based on residue and bottleneck architectures have been shown to retrieve the common wavefront distortion shared by all of the single-molecule emission events detected in a biplane configuration (27). We note that the accuracy of smNet-based inference depends on careful consideration of the imaging system during the training process (27). Further developments using smNet's wavefront estimation capability could potentially allow deep learning to actively drive the DM in real time.

INFORMATION CONTENT IN 3-D POINT SPREAD FUNCTIONS

Information Carried Per Photon

Here, we examine the amount of molecular position information carried per photon in several 3-D imaging modalities in terms of the theoretical precision bounds in the lateral and axial dimensions. For an unbiased estimator, the lower bound of a parameter's estimation variance can be calculated by using the CRLB (25, 110):

$$\operatorname{var}\left(\theta_{i}\right) \geq \left[F(\theta)^{-1}\right]_{ii}, \qquad 1.$$

where F is the Fisher information matrix, θ is a vector of estimation parameters, and *i* denotes the index of each parameter. Intuitively, this definition indicates that the estimation precision of a certain parameter can be improved by increasing the information associated with that parameter.

Assuming that the detected photon counts of each pixel follow a Poisson distribution and the stochastic counting process is independent between different pixels, the elements of the Fisher information matrix can be derived as

$$F_{ij} = \sum_{q} \frac{1}{\mu_q} \frac{\partial \mu_q}{\partial \theta_i} \frac{\partial \mu_q}{\partial \theta_j}, \qquad 2.$$

with q being the pixel index and μ_q representing the intensity of a single-molecule emission pattern at pixel q. μ can be written as

$$\mu(x, y, z) = I\mu_0(x, y, z) + bg, \qquad 3.$$

where μ_0 is a normalized PSF with its integration equal to one, *I* is the total photon count of the single emitter, and *bg* is a uniform background photon count at each pixel. For the imaging systems containing multiple views of the same emitter, such as biplane and 4Pi single-molecule switching nanoscopy (4Pi-SMSN) systems, the Fisher information matrix is given by (81)

$$F_{ij} = \sum_{m} \sum_{q} \frac{1}{\mu_{mq}} \frac{\partial \mu_{mq}}{\partial \theta_{mi}} \frac{\partial \mu_{mq}}{\partial \theta_{mj}} \frac{\partial \mu_{mq}}{\partial \theta_{mj}} , \qquad 4.$$

with *m* being the index of each imaging view. From Equations 2 to 4, it can be observed that a high total photon count (*I*) and low background photon count will increase F_{ij} , resulting in more information (for simplicity, one could imagine the task of estimating one parameter such that the Fisher information matrix becomes a single value). To obtain a consistent comparison, we calculated the theoretical precision limit from the Fisher information per photon at zero background to quantify various imaging modalities, similar to an approach by Backlund et al. (111) (**Figure 3***a*).

According to Equations 2 to 4, to improve the estimation precision of single-molecule positions, one could modify the PSF shape μ_0 , as in Equation 3, to increase the Fisher information. Based on this principle and focusing on improving the precision of axial localization, DH (11), self-bending (87), saddle-point (88), and tetrapod PSFs (89, 101, 112) allow for improvements in the precision of axial localization over an extended axial range (**Figure 3***a*). Through the coherent detection of single molecules using two opposing objective lenses, 4Pi-SMSN can be considered to be another type of PSF that provides significantly increased axial information and is capable of further improving localization precision in all three dimensions (12, 13, 92) (**Figure 3***a*,*e*).

Increasing Fisher Information Through Excitation

In addition to PSF engineering, which focuses on optimizing the PSF shape (i.e., μ_0 in Equation 3) with respect to its axial positions, one may also modulate the intensity of the PSF according to the position in order to achieve increased Fisher information (i.e., *I* in Equation 3). The recently developed nanometer resolution imaging with minimal emission fluxes (MINFLUX) (113) and SIMFLUX (where SIM stands for structured illumination microscopy) (114) systems are based on this principle. In both cases, the total photon count *I* in Equation 3 becomes a function of the emitter's lateral position [i.e., *I* (*x*, *y*)]. To achieve this, structured excitation profiles are scanned around the single molecule multiple times in lateral or axial directions (115). To ensure consistent comparisons, we used as the comparison metric a precision limit from the Fisher information matrix per photon at zero background, with the total expected photon flux over one scan cycle normalized to one.

Specifically, in SIMFLUX (114), a single molecule is excited and imaged with a sinusoidal illumination pattern at multiple phase positions that are uniformly distributed in a 2π range. **Figure 3***b* shows a simulation result in a 1-D case, given that $\sum_k I_k = 1$ and *k* is the index of

each phase position. SIMFLUX allows for further increases in the theoretical Fisher information and, therefore, improves localization precision when compared with SMLM under uniform illumination (Figure 3b). In MINFLUX, single molecules within a subdiffraction-limited area are scanned by a donut beam at multiple positions (113). The key idea of MINFLUX is to scan the molecule near the local minimum of the illumination pattern, inducing a near-zero excitation intensity of a single molecule such that the term $1/\mu_q$ in Equation 2 can be greatly increased when the background photon count is near zero. To demonstrate such a principle, we calculated the information gain for the 1-D case when a single molecule is scanned only in the valley of a 1-D sinusoidal excitation pattern. In contrast to SIMFLUX, in which molecules are scanned by the full modulation period of the illumination pattern, MINFLUX achieves better precision when the scanning range becomes smaller, especially for molecules near the local minimum of the sinusoidal pattern. Also, as the scanning range decreases, the variation in localization precision across the lateral diffraction-limited area increases rapidly. Assuming a modulation period of 300 nm (i.e., the valley-to-valley distance), MINFLUX achieves better localization precision than SIMFLUX in an imaging area of ~ 100 nm. Theoretically, the lowest achievable resolution for MINFLUX becomes infinitesimal, and it requires the local minimum of the excitation pattern to be zero. In addition, instead of relying on the emission pattern from single molecules to pinpoint the molecular center, MINFLUX relies on knowledge of the excitation intensity profile to pinpoint the molecular center. System- and sample-induced aberrations may affect both the condition of the zero-intensity center as well as the exact intensity profile near the center minimum required for optimal resolution.

In addition to MINFLUX and SIMFLUX, we also examined the case of applying imagescanning microscopy (ISM) in single-molecule localization. In ISM, a focused laser spot (usually modeled as a 2-D Gaussian illumination pattern) raster scans across the FOV, which is typically much larger than the laser spot. Therefore, each molecule will be probed by the entire size of the laser spot. **Figure 3b** shows the simulation results for 1-D ISM imaging using a 1-D Gaussian illumination pattern. Similar to SIMFLUX, combining ISM and SMLM increases the information obtained and, therefore, reduces the achievable precision limit when compared with SMLM using uniform illumination (**Figure 3b**).

SAMPLE DRIFT, VOLUME ALIGNMENT, AND PHOTOBLEACHING

To acquire an entire cellular or tissue volume using SMLM, samples need to be scanned in the axial direction (9, 10). Depending on the 3-D modality used in SMLM, the thickness of each optical section ranges from as thin as 250 nm up to 3 μ m (13, 87). Multiple optical sections are needed to reconstruct a whole-cell or tissue volume. Correcting or numerically compensating for drift in each optical section imaged between multiple cycles as well as stitching super-resolved and axially shifted volumes are critical in maintaining the resolution achieved in each optical section. Moreover, for illumination modalities such as wide-field and HILO, in which the illumination profile is several times or significantly thicker than the optical section, certain single molecules that are excited may be out of focus for localization. When a large volume is acquired, this introduces inhomogeneous photobleaching that may result in reduced localization density at the optical sections that are imaged later compared with those imaged earlier. Here, we discuss these considerations in drift correction methods, optical section alignment, and photobleaching mitigation.

Drift Correction

Fiducial marker-based drift correction was used for general time-lapse microscopy before the introduction of SMLM. Fluorescent beads or gold nanoparticles adsorbed onto the coverslip

surface have served as the simplest form of fiducial marker for tracking and correcting sample drift, through either postprocessing (116–118) or real-time active feedback compensation (119, 120). This approach suffers from a number of drawbacks. First, there should be at least one fiducial marker inside the camera FOV being imaged. However, too many fiducial markers will interfere with the actual single-molecule signals in cases in which the fluorescence or photoluminescence signal of the markers is detected in the same image. But it is a practical challenge to achieve the optimal concentration of fiducial markers in a consistent way using nano- or microbeads. Additionally, the brightness difference between fiducial markers and single-molecule fluorescence signals often forces data to be acquired under suboptimal imaging conditions in terms of sensitivity and the dynamic range of the detector. Furthermore, potential optical and physical degradation or the motion of fiducial markers relative to the sample over time can make drift correction less reliable. These issues have been addressed to some extent by imprinting regular array patterns of fiducial markers on coverslips using electron beams (121) or soft lithography (122, 123) and also by separating the detection of fiducial markers from the single-molecule imaging channel [e.g., as in bright-field imaging (119, 122-124) or back-focal-plane laser detection (121) of fiducial markers]. Remarkably, using the fiducial marker-based method in combination with back-focal-plane interferometry one can achieve real-time 3-D drift correction with subnanometer precision (121).

3-D imaging of thick samples, such as a whole cell, imposes additional challenges to drift correction. Primarily, the fiducial beads on the coverslip surface may be out of focus when the focal plane is set high above the coverslip for imaging thick volumes, and this issue is more significant for high-NA objectives and their shallow depth of focus. Therefore, the popular fluorescent nanoand microbeads may not be suitable fiducial markers for imaging thick samples in a conventional setting. One approach is to image the two focal planes together (i.e., one for the sample and the other for the fiducial beads), either by switching the axial position of the sample stage between the two focal planes between imaging cycles (125) or by optically separating the two focal planes and projecting them onto different areas of the camera (126). Another approach is to use bright-field images of the cellular structure itself as fiducial markers (127, 128). By employing transillumination light that is spectrally distinct from the fluorescence of excitation or emission, as well as a separate camera for the bright-field imaging, this method of drift correction can be operated independently of fluorescence imaging. Recently, tetrapod PSFs with a tunable axial depth range of up to 20 μ m have been used as fiducial markers, allowing for 3-D super-resolution reconstruction of an entire nuclear lamina in a HeLa cell (55).

The use of correlation-based drift correction methods during postprocessing has been demonstrated in both 2-D and 3-D SMLM (92, 129, 130). These methods rely on finding the decentered peak within a cross-correlation volume obtained from the same optical section but at a different time point. The correlation peak—whose height and width depend on the localization density as well as the achieved resolution in each volume—can be precisely localized to track sample drift when the 3-D resolved volume contains high-resolution and well-defined ultrastructures. Furthermore, by incorporating redundancy within the set of the pairwise shifts between volumes at all time points, the estimation fidelity of independent lateral and axial shifts between temporally adjacent volumes can be significantly increased (92, 130, 131).

Multiple Optical Section Imaging and Alignment

A common strategy when imaging large volumes of 3-D SMLM data is to perform multicycle imaging in which each cycle goes through the entire volume. This strategy, however, gives significantly lower localization density per optical section acquired at each cycle when compared with imaging the entire volume in a single cycle. Therefore, the benefit of having evenly distributed

localization density across the imaging volume (despite photobleaching) comes with the challenges of later segment alignment as well as axial drift across the cycles. For imaging volumes with large axial depth, the time interval between the two adjacent scan cycles may be exceedingly large (e.g., 30 min to 1 h), and, therefore, the potential axial drift of a microscopy system during such a long interval could be as large as the axial dimension of the optical section itself. This could make correlation-based drift correction inapplicable, as supposedly the same two optical sections obtained in two adjacent cycles might contain completely different cellular or tissue structures. In this case, fiducial marker– or transmission image–based axial position correction will be crucial to keep the FOV in place between imaging cycles. Alternatively, a subset of the entire volume containing axially adjacent optical sections can be imaged at each cycle while moving this subset through the entire volume (80). This could help to reduce the axial drift between cycles, as the time delay between imaging cycles can be significantly shortened.

Alignment of the sequentially obtained optical sections is critical in maintaining the high resolution achieved in each section. Misalignment could result in the deterioration of resolution in the reconstructed volume in both the lateral and axial directions. Stacking optical sections with a fixed theoretical axial shift has been demonstrated in relatively small volumes and at shallow depths (10). For cell and tissue specimens, 3-D correlation-based optical section alignment has been developed in which the partially overlapping volumes between adjacent optical sections are used to find both lateral and axial shifts between the sections (92). To increase the accuracy of alignment, this correlation-based approach also allows for the incorporation of redundancy into the correlation measurements when multiple (i.e., more than two) axially shifted optical sections share partially overlapping volumes.

Photobleaching Mitigation

It cannot be overstated how pivotal are the roles that the tailored, novel photophysics of fluorophores play in the SMLM field, and, therefore, the topic of SMLM fluorescent probes and their photophysics has been extensively reviewed previously (132-134). SMLM requires stochastic photoswitching and almost negligible photobleaching, if possible. Mitigating photobleaching is particularly critical to 3-D SMLM of whole cells or tissues due to the extended imaging time. The primary method for inhibiting photobleaching has been to remove oxygen in the imaging buffer using enzymatic oxygen scavenger systems combined with photostabilizers, either those in the class of triplet-state quenchers [e.g., Trolox (Hoffmann-LaRoche), 1,3,5,7cyclooctatetraene, or nitrobenzyl alcohol] or those in the class of reduction-oxidation systems (e.g., methyl viologen, ascorbic acid). It was reported that the combined use of photostabilizer additives synergistically improved the photostability of the cyanine and Alexa fluorophores (135). The recently developed concept of a self-healing approach (136) is based on covalently bonding photostabilizers to organic fluorescent probes to facilitate photostabilizer function in the most efficient manner without the need for additives in the buffer solution (Figure 5a). The self-healing concept was further extended to fluorescence resonance energy transfer (or FRET) conjugates (137) in which the acceptor plays a role similar to that of a photostabilizer for the donor, with the additional energy transfer channel effectively suppressing pathways to the intermediate dark states that eventually lead to the photobleaching (Figure 5b). Another notable recent study combined photoswitching and fluxionality to develop a fluorescent probe (138) that can be used for time-lapse, live, whole-cell 4-D SMLM with minimal toxicity and no apparent photobleaching (Figure 5c). Once fluorophores are photoactivated by a 405-nm pulse, the fluorophores exhibit a ground-state equilibrium between a fluorescent and a dark species, resulting in spontaneous blinking that allows for single-molecule localization at a low excitation



Figure 5

(*a*) TSQ-conjugated Cy5 (*left*) and average photobleaching times (τ_{on}) with individual TSQs in solution or directly conjugated to Cy5 (*right*). Shown are error bars and standard deviations ($n \ge 6$ movies from at least two independent experiments). (*b*) JF₆₄₆-linked mEos3.2 (*left*) and 2-D histogram of total on-state time (i.e., individual track length), and total number of switching events per molecule when performing SMLM using either mEos3.2 or the mEos3.2–JF₆₄₆ FRET pair. (*c*) Mechanism of the photoregulated fluxional fluorophore PFF-1 (*top*) and 3-D live-cell SMLM imaging of vesicle movement at a synapse, displaying a vesicle moving from hotspot H₃ to H₄ through track T₁ (*bottom*). The volumes are colored according to the axial direction. The dimension of ROI is 1.5 μ m × 1.5 μ m × 1.5 μ m. Panels *a*, *b*, and *c* adapted with permission from References 136, 137, and 138, respectively. Abbreviations: COT, 1,3,5,7-cyclooctatetraene; FRET, fluorescence resonance energy transfer; NBA, nitrobenzyl alcohol; NHS, N-hydroxysuccinimidyl ester; ROI, region of interest; SMLM, single-molecule localization microscopy; TSQ, triplet-state quencher.

Table 1 Examples of confined illumination strategies

Light-sheet fluorescence microscopy	Detection numerical aperture	Example specimen type	Single- molecule localization microscopy	Reference
Multidirectional SPIM (mSPIM)	Not available	Zebrafish embryo	No	49
Airy beam	0.4	Juvenile amphioxus	No	70
Inverted SPIM (iSPIM)	0.8	C. elegans embryo	No	44
Dual-view iSPIM (DiSPIM)	0.8	C. elegans embryo, cell	No	45
Three-objective SPIM (TriSPIM)	0.8	Theoretical	No	50
Axially swept light-sheet microscopy (ASLM)	0.8	Cell	No	144
Tiling light-sheet SPIM (TLS-SPIM)	0.8	C. elegans embryo	No	145
	0.8	C. elegans embryo	No	146
Swept confocally aligned planar excitation (SCAPE)	0.95	Mouse, <i>Drosophila</i> larva	No	147
Oblique plane microscopy (OPM)	1.35	Pollen grain	No	148
Digital scanned laser light-sheet fluorescence microscopy (DLSM)	0.075-1.0	Zebrafish embryo	No	149
Selective plane illumination microscopy (SPIM)	0.25-0.8	Medaka embryo, <i>Drosophila</i> embryo	No	43
Light-sheet Bayesian microscopy (LSBM)	1.0	Cell	Yes	56
Individual molecule localization SPIM (IML-SPIM)	0.8 and 1.1	Spheroid	Yes	46
πSPIM	1.1	Cell	No	51
Lattice light-sheet microscopy (LLSM)	1.1	Cell, C. elegans embryo, Drosophila embryo	Yes	47
Bessel beam	0.8	Cell	No	67
	1.1	Cell, <i>C. elegans</i> embryo and larva, <i>Drosophila</i> embryo and adult brain	No	68
Lateral interference tilted excitation (LITE)	≥1.2	Cell, C. elegans embryo, Drosophila embryo	No	150
Single-objective light-sheet microscopy (SO-LSM)	1.2	Cell	Yes	151
Oblique plane stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (obSTORM)	1.2	Cell, <i>C. elegans</i> , <i>Drosophila</i> larval brain, mouse retina and brain sections	Yes	53
Axial plane optical microscopy (APOM)	1.4	Pollen grain, mouse brain section	No	74
Epi-illumination SPIM (eSPIM)	1.27	Cell	Yes	52
Reflected light-sheet microscopy (RLSM)	1.35 and 1.4	Cell	Yes	54
Single-objective SPIM (soSPIM)	0.3–1.4	Cell, Drosophila embryo	Yes	58
Tilted light-sheet microscopy with 3-D PSFs (TILT3D)	1.4	Cell	Yes	55
Highly inclined swept tile (HIST)	1.45	Cell	No	31
Highly inclined and laminated optical sheet (HILO)	1.49	Cell	No	57

intensity. The unique feasibility of SMLM at a low excitation intensity could contribute to the minimization of dye photobleaching and cell toxicity and may also be applied to significantly reduce background fluorescence when tissue specimens are imaged.

CONCLUSIONS

Whole-cell and tissue specimens challenge the achievable resolution and depth of 3-D SMLM. Instead of relying on one specific solution, the practically achievable resolution, depth, and fidelity of 3-D SMLM in thick specimens rely on careful consideration of multiple aspects of the process, including excitation and detection design, specimen preparation, and localization algorithms, as well as postprocessing of the super-resolved volumes.

Here, we reviewed a selection of these considerations, some innovative solutions, and the consequent trade-offs. Innovations that target to reduce background fluorescence (e.g., light sheet illumination; see **Table 1**), to correct or compensate for system- and sample-induced aberrations, and to optimize volume reconstruction and the photophysics of single fluorescent probes, as well as to improve information carried by the emitted photons, are discussed. During the past several years, the pace of these developments and their demonstrated breakthroughs have been staggering. When combined, these methods could expand the routine applicability of ultrahigh-resolution 3-D imaging from cellular targets that lie close to the coverslip surface to intra- and extracellular constituents in tissues and cells.

We also expect that by combining 3-D SMLM with recently developed tissue clearing and expansion techniques (139–141) and multiplexed labeling methods (22, 142, 143), resolution and imaging depth may be further extended in the pursuit of ultrahigh-resolution imaging (1 to 5 nm) that is capable of revealing the architecture and arrangement of multiple protein species at the molecular scale deep inside a large tissue volume.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Li Fang (Purdue University) for providing the data shown in **Figure 4***b*. S.L. and F.H. are supported by grants from the US National Institutes of Health (GM119785 to F.H.) and the US Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (D16AP00093 to F.H.). H.H. and S.-H.L. are supported by grants from the US Department of Energy (DE-SC0019313 to S.-H.L.) and the National Science Foundation (1825433 to S.-H.L.).

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Lichtman JW, Conchello J-A. 2005. Fluorescence microscopy. Nat. Methods 2:910-19
- 2. Hell SW. 2007. Far-field optical nanoscopy. Science 316(5828):1153-58
- Betzig E, Patterson GH, Sougrat R, Lindwasser OW, Olenych S, et al. 2006. Imaging intracellular fluorescent proteins at nanometer resolution. *Science* 313(5793):1642–45
- Hess ST, Girirajan TPK, Mason MD. 2006. Ultra-high resolution imaging by fluorescence photoactivation localization microscopy. *Biophys. J.* 91(11):4258–72
- Rust MJ, Bates M, Zhuang X. 2006. Sub-diffraction-limit imaging by stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (STORM). Nat. Methods 3:793–95

- Heilemann M, Van De Linde S, Schüttpelz M, Kasper R, Seefeldt B, et al. 2008. Subdiffractionresolution fluorescence imaging with conventional fluorescent probes. *Angew. Chem.* 47(33):6172– 76
- Fölling J, Bossi M, Bock H, Medda R, Wurm CA, et al. 2008. Fluorescence nanoscopy by ground-state depletion and single-molecule return. *Nat. Methods* 5:943–45
- Small A, Stahlheber S. 2014. Fluorophore localization algorithms for super-resolution microscopy. Nat. Methods 11:267–79
- Juette MF, Lessard MD, Mlodzianoski MJ, Nagpure BS, Bewersdorf J, et al. 2008. Three-dimensional sub-100 nm resolution fluorescence microscopy of thick samples. *Nat. Methods* 5:527–29
- 10. Huang B, Jones SA, Brandenburg B, Zhuang X. 2008. Whole-cell 3D STORM reveals interactions between cellular structures with nanometer-scale resolution. *Nat. Methods* 5:1047–52
- Pavani SRP, Thompson MA, Biteen JS, Lord SJ, Liu N, et al. 2009. Three-dimensional, single-molecule fluorescence imaging beyond the diffraction limit by using a double-helix point spread function. *PNAS* 106(9):2995–99
- Aquino D, Schönle A, Geisler C, Middendorff CV, Wurm CA, et al. 2011. Two-color nanoscopy of threedimensional volumes by 4Pi detection of stochastically switched fluorophores. *Nat. Methods* 8:353–59
- Shtengel G, Galbraith JA, Galbraith CG, Lippincott-Schwartz J, Gillette JM, et al. 2009. Interferometric fluorescent super-resolution microscopy resolves 3D cellular ultrastructure. *PNAS* 106(9):3125–30
- van de Linde S, Heilemann M, Sauer M. 2012. Live-cell super-resolution imaging with synthetic fluorophores. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* 63:519–40
- Lin Y, Long JJ, Huang F, Duim WC, Kirschbaum S, et al. 2015. Quantifying and optimizing singlemolecule switching nanoscopy at high speeds. *PLOS ONE* 10(5):e0128135
- 16. Cox S. 2015. Super-resolution imaging in live cells. Dev. Biol. 401(1):175-81
- 17. Hoogendoorn E, Crosby KC, Leyton-Puig D, Breedijk RMP, Jalink K, et al. 2014. The fidelity of stochastic single-molecule super-resolution reconstructions critically depends upon robust background estimation. *Sci. Rep.* 4:3854
- Dong B, Almassalha LM, Stypula-Cyrus Y, Urban BE, Chandler JE, et al. 2016. Superresolution intrinsic fluorescence imaging of chromatin utilizing native, unmodified nucleic acids for contrast. *PNAS* 113(35):9716–21
- Presley JF, Ward TH, Pfeifer AC, Siggia ED, Phair RD, Lippincott-Schwartz J. 2002. Dissection of COPI and Arf1 dynamics in vivo and role in Golgi membrane transport. *Nature* 417:187–93
- Croce AC, Bottiroli G. 2014. Autofluorescence spectroscopy and imaging: a tool for biomedical research and diagnosis. *Eur. J. Histochem.* 58(4):320–37
- Jungmann R, Steinhauer C, Scheible M, Kuzyk A, Tinnefeld P, Simmel FC. 2010. Single-molecule kinetics and super-resolution microscopy by fluorescence imaging of transient binding on DNA origami. *Nano Lett.* 10(11):4756–61
- Jungmann R, Avendaño MS, Woehrstein JB, Dai M, Shih WM, Yin P. 2014. Multiplexed 3D cellular super-resolution imaging with DNA-PAINT and Exchange-PAINT. *Nat. Methods* 11:313–18
- Schoen I, Ries J, Klotzsch E, Ewers H, Vogel V. 2011. Binding-activated localization microscopy of DNA. Nano Lett. 11(9):4008–11
- Legant WR, Shao L, Grimm JB, Brown TA, Milkie DE, et al. 2016. High-density three-dimensional localization microscopy across large volumes. *Nat. Methods* 13:359–65
- Ober RJ, Ram S, Ward ES. 2004. Localization accuracy in single-molecule microscopy. *Biophys. J.* 86(2):1185–200
- Smith CS, Joseph N, Rieger B, Lidke KA. 2010. Fast, single-molecule localization that achieves theoretically minimum uncertainty. *Nat. Methods* 7:373–75
- Zhang P, Liu S, Chaurasia A, Ma D, Mlodzianoski MJ, et al. 2018. Analyzing complex single-molecule emission patterns with deep learning. *Nat. Methods* 15:913–16
- Schueder F, Lara-Gutiérrez J, Beliveau BJ, Saka SK, Sasaki HM, et al. 2017. Multiplexed 3D superresolution imaging of whole cells using spinning disk confocal microscopy and DNA-PAINT. *Nat. Commun.* 8:2090
- 29. Wilson T. 2011. Resolution and optical sectioning in the confocal microscope. J. Microsc. 244(2):113-21

- Lee J, Miyanaga Y, Ueda M, Hohng S. 2012. Video-rate confocal microscopy for single-molecule imaging in live cells and superresolution fluorescence imaging. *Biophys. J.* 103(8):1691–97
- Tang J, Han KY. 2018. Extended field-of-view single-molecule imaging by highly inclined swept illumination. Optica 5(9):1063–69
- Oron D, Tal E, Silberberg Y. 2005. Scanningless depth-resolved microscopy. Opt. Express 13(5):1468– 76
- Zhu GH, van Howe J, Durst M, Zipfel W, Xu C. 2005. Simultaneous spatial and temporal focusing of femtosecond pulses. *Opt. Express* 13(6):2153–59
- Vaziri A, Tang JY, Shroff H, Shank CV. 2008. Multilayer three-dimensional super resolution imaging of thick biological samples. *PNAS* 105(51):20221–26
- York AG, Ghitani A, Vaziri A, Davidson MW, Shroff H. 2011. Confined activation and subdiffractive localization enables whole-cell PALM with genetically expressed probes. *Nat. Methods* 8:327–33
- Therrien OD, Aube B, Pages S, De Koninck P, Cote D. 2011. Wide-field multiphoton imaging of cellular dynamics in thick tissue by temporal focusing and patterned illumination. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 2(3):696–704
- Choi H, Yew EYS, Hallacoglu B, Fantini S, Sheppard CJR, So PTC. 2013. Improvement of axial resolution and contrast in temporally focused widefield two-photon microscopy with structured light illumination. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 4(7):995–1005
- Isobe K, Takeda T, Mochizuki K, Song QY, Suda A, et al. 2013. Enhancement of lateral resolution and optical sectioning capability of two-photon fluorescence microscopy by combining temporal-focusing with structured illumination. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 4(11):2396–410
- Hernandez O, Papagiakoumou E, Tanese D, Fidelin K, Wyart C, Emiliani V. 2016. Three-dimensional spatiotemporal focusing of holographic patterns. *Nat. Commun.* 7:11928
- Tajahuerce E, Durán V, Clemente P, Irles E, Soldevila F, et al. 2014. Image transmission through dynamic scattering media by single-pixel photodetection. *Opt. Express* 22(14):16945–55
- Durán V, Soldevila F, Irles E, Clemente P, Tajahuerce E, et al. 2015. Compressive imaging in scattering media. Opt. Express 23(11):14424–33
- Pégard NC, Mardinly AR, Oldenburg IA, Sridharan S, Waller L, Adesnik H. 2017. Three-dimensional scanless holographic optogenetics with temporal focusing (3D-SHOT). *Nat. Commun.* 8(1):1228
- Huisken J, Swoger J, Del Bene F, Wittbrodt J, Stelzer EHK. 2004. Optical sectioning deep inside live embryos by selective plane illumination microscopy. *Science* 305(5686):1007–9
- Wu Y, Ghitani A, Christensen R, Santella A, Du Z, et al. 2011. Inverted selective plane illumination microscopy (*i*SPIM) enables coupled cell identity lineaging and neurodevelopmental imaging in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. PNAS 108(43):17708–13
- Kumar A, Wu Y, Christensen R, Chandris P, Gandler W, et al. 2014. Dual-view plane illumination microscopy for rapid and spatially isotropic imaging. *Nat. Protoc.* 9(11):2555–73
- Cella Zanacchi F, Lavagnino Z, Perrone Donnorso M, Del Bue A, Furia L, et al. 2011. Live-cell 3D super-resolution imaging in thick biological samples. *Nat. Methods* 8:1047–50
- Chen B, Legant WR, Wang K, Shao L, Milkie DE, et al. 2014. Lattice light-sheet microscopy: imaging molecules to embryos at high spatiotemporal resolution. *Science* 346(6208):1257998
- Power RM, Huisken J. 2017. A guide to light-sheet fluorescence microscopy for multiscale imaging. Nat. Methods 14:360–73
- Huisken J, Stainier DYR. 2007. Even fluorescence excitation by multidirectional selective plane illumination microscopy (mSPIM). Opt. Lett. 32(17):2608–10
- Manton JD, Rees EJ. 2016. triSPIM: light sheet microscopy with isotropic super-resolution. Opt. Lett. 41(18):4170–73
- 51. Theer P, Dragneva D, Knop M. 2016. πSPIM: high NA high resolution isotropic light-sheet imaging in cell culture dishes. *Sci. Rep.* 6:32880
- Yang B, Chen X, Wang Y, Feng S, Pessino V, et al. 2019. Epi-illumination SPIM for volumetric imaging with high spatial-temporal resolution. *Nat. Methods* 16:501–4
- Kim J, Wojcik M, Wang Y, Moon S, Zin EA, et al. 2019. Oblique-plane single-molecule localization microscopy for tissues and small intact animals. *Nat. Methods* 16:853–57

- Gebhardt JCM, Suter DM, Roy R, Zhao ZW, Chapman AR, et al. 2013. Single-molecule imaging of transcription factor binding to DNA in live mammalian cells. *Nat. Metbods* 10:421–26
- Gustavsson AK, Petrov PN, Lee MY, Shechtman Y, Moerner WE. 2018. 3D single-molecule superresolution microscopy with a tilted light sheet. *Nat. Commun.* 9(1):123
- Hu YS, Zhu Q, Elkins K, Tse K, Li Y, et al. 2013. Light-sheet Bayesian microscopy enables deep-cell super-resolution imaging of heterochromatin in live human embryonic stem cells. *Opt. Nanoscopy* 2:7
- Tokunaga M, Imamoto N, Sakata-Sogawa K. 2008. Highly inclined thin illumination enables clear single-molecule imaging in cells. *Nat. Methods* 5:159–61
- Galland R, Grenci G, Aravind A, Viasnoff V, Studer V, Sibarita JB. 2015. 3D high- and super-resolution imaging using single-objective SPIM. *Nat. Methods* 12:641–44
- Meddens MBM, Liu S, Finnegan PS, Edwards TL, James CD, Lidke KA. 2016. Single objective lightsheet microscopy for high-speed whole-cell 3D super-resolution. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 7(6):2219–36
- 60. Durnin J. 1987. Exact solutions for nondiffracting beams. I. The scalar theory. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A. 4(4):651-54
- Bouchal Z. 2003. Nondiffracting optical beams: physical properties, experiments, and applications. Czechoslov. J. Phys. 53(7):537-78
- Piestun R, Schechner YY, Shamir J. 2000. Propagation-invariant wave fields with finite energy. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A. 17(2):294–303
- Fahrbach FO, Simon P, Rohrbach A. 2010. Microscopy with self-reconstructing beams. Nat. Photonics 4(11):780–85
- Fahrbach FO, Gurchenkov V, Alessandri K, Nassoy P, Rohrbach A. 2013. Self-reconstructing sectioned Bessel beams offer submicron optical sectioning for large fields of view in light-sheet microscopy. *Opt. Express* 21(9):11425–40
- 65. Chen Y, Liu JTC. 2015. Characterizing the beam steering and distortion of Gaussian and Bessel beams focused in tissues with microscopic heterogeneities. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 6(4):1318–30
- Gohn-Kreuz C, Rohrbach A. 2016. Light-sheet generation in inhomogeneous media using selfreconstructing beams and the STED-principle. *Opt. Express.* 24(6):5855–65
- Planchon TA, Gao L, Milkie DE, Davidson MW, Galbraith JA, et al. 2011. Rapid three-dimensional isotropic imaging of living cells using Bessel beam plane illumination. *Nat. Methods* 8:417–23
- Gao L, Shao L, Higgins CD, Poulton JS, Peifer M, et al. 2012. Noninvasive imaging beyond the diffraction limit of 3D dynamics in thickly fluorescent specimens. *Cell* 151(6):1370–85
- 69. Yang Z, Prokopas M, Nylk J, Coll-Lladó C, Gunn-Moore FJ, et al. 2014. A compact Airy beam light sheet microscope with a tilted cylindrical lens. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 5(10):3434–42
- Vettenburg T, Dalgarno HIC, Nylk J, Coll-Lladó C, Ferrier DEK, et al. 2014. Light-sheet microscopy using an Airy beam. *Nat. Methods* 11:541–44
- Booth M, Andrade D, Burke D, Patton B, Zurauskas M. 2015. Aberrations and adaptive optics in superresolution microscopy. *Microscopy* 64(4):251–61
- 72. Klein MV, Furtak TE. 1986. Optics. New York: Wiley. 2nd ed.
- 73. Gibson SF, Lanni F. 1992. Experimental test of an analytical model of aberration in an oil-immersion objective lens used in three-dimensional light microscopy. *J. Opt. Soc. Am. A.* 9(1):154–66
- 74. Li T, Ota S, Kim J, Wong ZJ, Wang Y, et al. 2014. Axial plane optical microscopy. Sci. Rep. 4:7253
- 75. Pluta M. 1988. Advanced Light Microscopy. Warsaw: PWN
- Arimoto R, Murray JM. 2004. A common aberration with water-immersion objective lenses. J. Microsc. 216:49–51
- Cutler PJ, Malik MD, Liu S, Byars JM, Lidke DS, Lidke KA. 2013. Multi-color quantum dot tracking using a high-speed hyperspectral line-scanning microscope. *PLOS ONE* 8(5):e64320
- Abrahamsson S, Chen J, Hajj B, Stallinga S, Katsov AY, et al. 2013. Fast multicolor 3D imaging using aberration-corrected multifocus microscopy. *Nat. Methods* 10(1):60–63
- 79. Siemons M, Hulleman CN, Thorsen RO, Smith CS, Stallinga S. 2018. High precision wavefront control in point spread function engineering for single emitter localization. *Opt. Express* 26(7):8397–416
- Mlodzianoski MJ, Cheng-Hathaway PJ, Bemiller SM, McCray TJ, Liu S, et al. 2018. Active PSF shaping and adaptive optics enable volumetric localization microscopy through brain sections. *Nat. Methods* 15:583–86

- Liu S, Kromann EB, Krueger WD, Bewersdorf J, Lidke KA. 2013. Three dimensional single molecule localization using a phase retrieved pupil function. *Opt. Express* 21(24):29462–87
- Booth MJ, Neil MAA, Wilson T. 1998. Aberration correction for confocal imaging in refractive-indexmismatched media. J. Microsc. 192(2):90–98
- McGorty R, Schnitzbauer J, Zhang W, Huang B. 2014. Correction of depth-dependent aberrations in 3D single-molecule localization and super-resolution microscopy. *Opt. Lett.* 39(2):275–78
- Wyant JC, Creath K. 1992. Basic wavefront aberration theory for optical metrology. In *Applied Optics and Optical Engineering*, Vol. 11, ed. RR Shannon, JC Wyant, pp. 2–53. New York: Academic
- 85. Ji N. 2017. Adaptive optical fluorescence microscopy. Nat. Methods 14(4):374-80
- Pavani SRP, Piestun R. 2008. High-efficiency rotating point spread functions. *Opt. Express* 16(5):3484– 89
- Jia S, Vaughan JC, Zhuang X. 2014. Isotropic three-dimensional super-resolution imaging with a selfbending point spread function. *Nat. Photonics* 8(4):302–6
- Shechtman Y, Sahl SJ, Backer AS, Moerner WE. 2014. Optimal point spread function design for 3D imaging. Phys. Rev. Lett. 113:133902
- Shechtman Y, Weiss LE, Backer AS, Moerner WE. 2015. Precise three-dimensional scan-free multipleparticle tracking over large axial ranges with tetrapod point spread functions. *Nano Lett.* 15(6):4194– 99
- Baddeley D, Cannell MB, Soeller C. 2011. Three-dimensional sub-100 nm super-resolution imaging of biological samples using a phase ramp in the objective pupil. *Nano Res.* 4(6):589–98
- Xu K, Babcock HP, Zhuang X. 2012. Dual-objective STORM reveals three-dimensional filament organization in the actin cytoskeleton. *Nat. Methods* 9(2):185–88
- Huang F, Sirinakis G, Allgeyer ES, Schroeder LK, Duim WC, et al. 2016. Ultra-high resolution 3D imaging of whole cells. *Cell* 166(4):1028–40
- Liu S, Huang F. 2019. Enhanced 4Pi single-molecule localization microscopy with coherent pupil based localization and light sheet illumination. bioRxiv 586404. https://doi.org/10.1101/586404
- Bon P, Linarès-Loyez J, Feyeux M, Alessandri K, Lounis B, et al. 2018. Self-interference 3D superresolution microscopy for deep tissue investigations. *Nat. Methods* 15:449–54
- Hajj B, Wisniewski J, El Beheiry M, Chen J, Revyakin A, et al. 2014. Whole-cell, multicolor superresolution imaging using volumetric multifocus microscopy. *PNAS* 111(49):17480–85
- Hajj B, El Beheiry M, Dahan M. 2016. PSF engineering in multifocus microscopy for increased depth volumetric imaging. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 7(3):726–31
- Oudjedi L, Fiche J, Abrahamsson S, Mazenq L, Lecestre A, et al. 2016. Astigmatic multifocus microscopy enables deep 3D super-resolved imaging. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 7(6):2163–73
- Hanser BM, Gustafsson MGL, Agard DA, Sedat JW. 2003. Phase retrieval for high-numerical-aperture optical systems. Opt. Lett. 28(10):801–3
- Hanser BM, Gustafsson MGL, Agard DA, Sedat JW. 2004. Phase-retrieved pupil functions in wide-field fluorescence microscopy. J. Microsc. 216(1):32–48
- Quirin S, Pavani SRP, Piestun R. 2012. Optimal 3D single-molecule localization for superresolution microscopy with aberrations and engineered point spread functions. *PNAS* 109(3):675–79
- Petrov PN, Shechtman Y, Moerner WE. 2017. Measurement-based estimation of global pupil functions in 3D localization microscopy. *Opt. Express* 25(7):7945–59
- Sakamoto JA, Barrett HH. 2012. Maximum-likelihood estimation of parameterized wavefronts from multifocal data. Opt. Express 20(14):15928–44
- Babcock HP, Zhuang X. 2017. Analyzing single molecule localization microscopy data using cubic splines. Sci. Rep. 7:552
- Li Y, Mund M, Hoess P, Deschamps J, Matti U, et al. 2018. Real-time 3D single-molecule localization using experimental point spread functions. *Nat. Methods* 15(5):367–69
- Saleh BEA, Lu K. 1990. Theory and design of the liquid crystal TV as an optical spatial phase modulator. Opt. Eng. 29(3):240
- Platt BC, Shack R. 2001. History and principles of Shack–Hartmann wavefront sensing. J. Refract. Surg. 17(5):S573–77

- Burke D, Patton B, Huang F, Bewersdorf J, Booth MJ. 2015. Adaptive optics correction of specimeninduced aberrations in single-molecule switching microscopy. *Optica* 2(2):177–85
- Tehrani KF, Xu J, Zhang Y, Shen P, Kner P. 2015. Adaptive optics stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (AO-STORM) using a genetic algorithm. *Opt. Express* 23(10):13677–92
- Tehrani KF, Zhang Y, Shen P, Kner P. 2017. Adaptive optics stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (AO-STORM) by particle swarm optimization. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 8(11):5087–97
- 110. Rao CR. 2001. Linear Statistical Inference and Its Applications. New York: Wiley. 2nd ed.
- Backlund MP, Shechtman Y, Walsworth RL. 2018. Fundamental precision bounds for threedimensional optical localization microscopy with Poisson statistics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 121:023904
- Shechtman Y, Weiss LE, Backer AS, Lee MY, Moerner WE. 2016. Multicolour localization microscopy by point-spread-function engineering. *Nat. Photonics* 10(9):590–94
- Balzarotti F, Eilers Y, Gwosch KC, Gynnå AH, Westphal V, et al. 2017. Nanometer resolution imaging and tracking of fluorescent molecules with minimal photon fluxes. *Science* 355(6325):606–12
- 114. Cnossen J, Hinsdale T, Thorsen R, Schueder F, Jungmann R, et al. 2019. Localization microscopy at doubled precision with patterned illumination. bioRxiv 554337. https://doi.org/10.1101/554337
- 115. Gwosch KC, Pape JK, Balzarotti F, Hoess P, Ellenberg J, et al. 2019. MINFLUX nanoscopy delivers multicolor nanometer 3D-resolution in (living) cells. bioRxiv 734251. https://doi.org/10.1101/734251
- Bates M, Huang B, Dempsey GT, Zhuang XW. 2007. Multicolor super-resolution imaging with photoswitchable fluorescent probes. *Science* 317(5845):1749–53
- Rust MJ, Bates M, Zhuang XW. 2006. Sub-diffraction-limit imaging by stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (STORM). *Nat. Methods* 3(10):793–95
- Betzig E, Patterson GH, Sougrat R, Lindwasser OW, Olenych S, et al. 2006. Imaging intracellular fluorescent proteins at nanometer resolution. *Science* 313(5793):1642–45
- Grover G, Mohrman W, Piestun R. 2015. Real-time adaptive drift correction for super-resolution localization microscopy. *Opt. Express* 23(18):23887–98
- Gustavsson AK, Petrov PN, Lee MY, Shechtman Y, Moerner WE. 2018. 3D single-molecule superresolution microscopy with a tilted light sheet. *Nat. Commun.* 9(1):123
- Carter AR, King GM, Ulrich TA, Halsey W, Alchenberger D, Perkins TT. 2007. Stabilization of an optical microscope to 0.1 nm in three dimensions. *Appl. Opt.* 46(3):421–27
- Lee SH, Baday M, Tjioe M, Simonson PD, Zhang R, et al. 2012. Using fixed fiduciary markers for stage drift correction. *Opt. Express* 20(11):12177–83
- 123. Youn Y, Ishitsuka Y, Jin C, Selvin PR. 2018. Thermal nanoimprint lithography for drift correction in super-resolution fluorescence microscopy. *Opt. Express* 26(2):1670–80
- 124. Tang Y, Wang X, Zhang X, Li J, Dai L. 2014. Sub-nanometer drift correction for super-resolution imaging. *Opt. Lett.* 39(19):5685–88
- 125. Ma HQ, Xu JQ, Jin JY, Huang Y, Liu Y. 2017. A simple marker-assisted 3D nanometer drift correction method for superresolution microscopy. *Biophys. 7*. 112(10):2196–208
- Abrahamsson S, Chen JJ, Hajj B, Stallinga S, Katsov AY, et al. 2013. Fast multicolor 3D imaging using aberration-corrected multifocus microscopy. *Nat. Methods* 10(1):60–63
- 127. McGorty R, Kamiyama D, Huang B. 2013. Active microscope stabilization in three dimensions using image correlation. *Opt. Nanoscopy* 2:3
- 128. Park S, Kang W, Kwon YD, Shim J, Kim S, et al. 2018. Superresolution fluorescence microscopy for 3D reconstruction of thick samples. *Mol. Brain* 11:17
- 129. Mlodzianoski MJ, Schreiner JM, Callahan SP, Smolková K, Dlasková A, et al. 2011. Sample drift correction in 3D fluorescence photoactivation localization microscopy. *Opt. Express* 19(16):15009–19
- Wang Y, Schnitzbauer J, Hu Z, Li X, Cheng Y, et al. 2014. Localization events-based sample drift correction for localization microscopy with redundant cross-correlation algorithm. *Opt. Express* 22(13):15982– 91
- Li X, Mooney P, Zheng S, Booth CR, Braunfeld MB, et al. 2013. Electron counting and beam-induced motion correction enable near-atomic-resolution single-particle cryo-EM. *Nat. Methods* 10(6):584–90
- Fernández-Suárez M, Ting AY. 2008. Fluorescent probes for super-resolution imaging in living cells. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9(12):929–43

- Ha T, Tinnefeld P. 2012. Photophysics of fluorescent probes for single-molecule biophysics and superresolution imaging. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* 63:595–617
- Dempsey GT, Vaughan JC, Chen KH, Bates M, Zhuang X. 2011. Evaluation of fluorophores for optimal performance in localization-based super-resolution imaging. *Nat. Methods* 8(12):1027–36
- Dave R, Terry DS, Munro JB, Blanchard SC. 2009. Mitigating unwanted photophysical processes for improved single-molecule fluorescence imaging. *Biophys. J.* 96(6):2371–81
- Altman RB, Terry DS, Zhou Z, Zheng Q, Geggier P, et al. 2012. Cyanine fluorophore derivatives with enhanced photostability. *Nat. Methods* 9(1):68–71
- 137. Basu S, Needham LM, Lando D, Taylor EJR, Wohlfahrt KJ, et al. 2018. FRET-enhanced photostability allows improved single-molecule tracking of proteins and protein complexes in live mammalian cells. *Nat. Commun.* 9(1):2520
- Halabi EA, Pinotsi D, Rivera-Fuentes P. 2019. Photoregulated fluxional fluorophores for live-cell superresolution microscopy with no apparent photobleaching. *Nat. Commun.* 10(1):1232
- 139. Chen F, Tillberg PW, Boyden ES. 2015. Expansion microscopy. Science 347(6221):534-48
- Chozinski TJ, Halpern AR, Okawa H, Kim HJ, Tremel GJ, et al. 2016. Expansion microscopy with conventional antibodies and fluorescent proteins. *Nat. Methods* 13(6):485–88
- 141. Shi X, Li Q, Dai Z, Tran A, Feng S, et al. 2019. Label-retention expansion microscopy. bioRxiv 687954. https://doi.org/10.1101/687954
- Agasti SS, Wang Y, Schueder F, Sukumar A, Jungmann R, Yin P. 2017. DNA-barcoded labeling probes for highly multiplexed Exchange-PAINT imaging. *Chem. Sci.* 8:3080–91
- Ku T, Swaney J, Park JY, Albanese A, Murray E, et al. 2016. Multiplexed and scalable super-resolution imaging of three-dimensional protein localization in size-adjustable tissues. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 34(9):973–81
- Dean KM, Roudot P, Welf ES, Danuser G, Fiolka R. 2015. Deconvolution-free subcellular imaging with axially swept light sheet microscopy. *Biophys. J.* 108(12):2807–15
- 145. Gao L. 2015. Extend the field of view of selective plan illumination microscopy by tiling the excitation light sheet. *Opt. Express* 23(5):6102–11
- 146. Fu Q, Martin BL, Matus DQ, Gao L. 2016. Imaging multicellular specimens with real-time optimized tiling light-sheet selective plane illumination microscopy. *Nat. Commun.* 7:11088
- Bouchard MB, Voleti V, Mendes CS, Lacefield C, Grueber WB, et al. 2015. Swept confocally-aligned planar excitation (SCAPE) microscopy for high-speed volumetric imaging of behaving organisms. *Nat. Photonics* 9(2):113–19
- Dunsby C. 2008. Optically sectioned imaging by oblique plane microscopy. *Opt. Express* 16(25):20306– 16
- Keller PJ, Schmidt AD, Wittbrodt J, Stelzer EHK. 2008. Reconstruction of zebrafish early embryonic development by scanned light sheet microscopy. *Science* 322(5904):1065–69
- Fadero TC, Gerbich TM, Rana K, Suzuki A, DiSalvo M, et al. 2018. LITE microscopy: tilted light-sheet excitation of model organisms offers high resolution and low photobleaching. *7. Cell Biol.* 217(5):1869–82
- Meddens MBM, Liu S, Finnegan PS, Edwards TL, James CD, Lidke KA. 2016. Single objective lightsheet microscopy for high-speed whole-cell 3D super-resolution. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 7(6):2219–36